No. 45568 -4 -II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

v. 

OSCAR RAUL MORENO VARGAS., 

Appellant. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Katherine Stolz, Trial Judge

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK

WSBA No. 23879
Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE

Post Office Box 31017

Seattle, Washington 98103

206) 782 -3353

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. There was insufficient evidence to prove all the essential
elements of the charged crime of voyeurism. 

2. The trial court erred as a matter of law in failing to comply
with RCW 10.01. 160( 3) when imposing discretionary legal
financial obligations. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the prosecution fail to prove all the essential elements
of the crime of voyeurism when the evidence did not show

that the viewing was for more than a brief period of time or
in other than a casual or cursory manner? 

2. Under RCW 10. 01. 160( 3), did the trial court err as a matter

of law in failing to determine the defendant' s actual ability
to pay and the potential effect of the imposition on the
indigent defendant before imposing discretionary legal
financial obligations? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Oscar R. Moreno Vargas was charged by information

with voyeurism and second - degree malicious mischief. CP 1 - 2; RCW

9A.44. 115( 2)( a); RCW 9A.48.080( 1)( b). Trial was held before the

Honorable Katherine Stolz on October 7, 8, 9, 10, 14 and 15, 2013.' The

trial judge dismissed the malicious mischief charge for lack of evidence. 

RP 181, 284. The jury convicted Moreno Vargas of voyeurism. CP 57. 

On October 18, 2013, Judge Stolz imposed a standard -range

sentence. CP 64 -77. Moreno Vargas appealed and this pleading follows. 

See CP 78. 

The verbatim report of proceedings in this case consists of several chronologically
paginated volumes which will be referred to herein as " RP." 
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2. Testimony at trial

Melissa Geffre had just started her shift as " service supervisor" at

an Albertson' s grocery store on Milton Way in Pierce County, 

Washington, at about 7 p.m. on June 9, 2013, when she went to do a

bathroom check" to make sure the courtesy clerks were keeping the

bathroom clean. RP 49. She went into the women' s room and decided to

use the facilities herself. RP 49 -50. The bathroom had two stalls and

Geffre could tell that there was someone in the first stall, so she went into

the second. RP 49. 

Geffre noticed from the shoes of the person which she could see

under the stall that they were facing the toilet like a man. RP 49. She

thought that was " kind of weird" but still went into the stall. RP 49. She

did not hear anyone urinating or defecating in the next stall. RP 56 -57. 

Geffre put down a sanitary cover on the toilet, pulled down her

pants and sat down to go to the bathroom. RP 52 -53. She started to go

and then noticed the shoes in the stall next door move towards the wall or

partition between the two restrooms. RP 53. Geffre described a gap by

the back wall of the partition which was maybe an inch or two inches. RP

53 -54. 

The toilet seat where she sat was not directly aligned with the

crack. RP 77. 

Geffre said that, when the feet started moving towards the wall she

heard a sound, which she described as " some type of rubbing or some type

of noise like that." RP 54 -55. On cross - examination, she conceded that, 

although she heard a noise, she was not actually truly sure what was
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making it. RP 78. 

Geffre had to lean back a little to see through the crack but when

she did, she said, she saw a " shadow" and saw someone' s eyes. RP 56 -57, 

77. On cross - examination, however, she backtracked, saying she had seen

probably just one eye, yeah." RP 77. She then said she was not a

hundred percent sure if it was two eyes" or one. RP77 -78. 

Geffre stopped going to the bathroom, hollered, "[ w]hat are you

doing," then jumped up and went to leave the bathroom. RP 56 -57. 

Geffre saw the man in the other stall and said he seemed to be having a

little trouble getting out his stall' s open door. RP 57 -58. She said the man

was trying to pull up his pants and they were up to about his thighs. RP

58. Geffre claimed that she saw some of his penis and, as he ran out, his

bare bottom. RP 58. 

At trial, Geffre testified that she saw a tattoo or something similar

on the man' s bottom. RP 58, 72 -73. She admitted, however, that she had

told defense counsel prior to trial that she was " a hundred percent certain" 

she saw a tattoo on the man' s behind and that it was on the left " cheek." 

RP 73. 

Geffre ran after the man, about three feet behind. RP 59 -60. She

said the man had an " orangish" shirt and probably brown or tan shoes. RP

60. Once shown her statement, however, she said the shoes which she had

said she had seen under the stall door were actually both light brown and

tan. RP 72. 

Geffre stopped chasing when the man reached the door and left the

store. RP 61. She remembered talking to a male customer and then she
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went to call police. RP 61. That customer, Matthew Casmier, testified

that he heard a loud bang come from the restroom and saw a man running

towards him. RP 155 -57. He also heard the store clerk yell something. 

RP 157. The man was wearing light pants and an orange shirt and

appeared to be grasping at his waistband of his pants with his left hand. 

RP 157. After the man ran out of the store, Casmier realized the clerk was

saying something about calling the police. RP 158. 

Casmier got his son into the back of their minivan and drove in the

direction he had seen the man, then saw what he thought was the same

guy, running at " full speed," towards a nearby McDonald' s fast food

restaurant. RP 159. Casmier parked in the restaurant parking lot, told his

son and wife to stay in the car and then went inside to search for the man. 

RP 159 -60. When he did not see him, Casmier decided to go into the

bathroom and saw that the door to the stall was locked. RP 160 -61. He

looked underneath the stall and saw a pair of feet, which he opined were

not positioned as if the toilet was being used. RP 160 -61. 

Casmier went out to tell his wife what was going on to have her

relay it to the police but noticed a police car arrive so he waved it down. 

RP 160 -61. Inside was Milton Police Department officer Chris Alexander, 

who had responded to Geffre' s 9 - 1 - 1 call and was looking around the area. 

RP 100 -108. Casmier told the officer about being at the Albertson' s and

seeing the man run away but said he did not see the man inside the

restaurant. RP 108. He also told the officer that a stall in the men' s

bathroom was locked. RP 108. 

Alexander went into the restaurant and did not see anyone who
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looked like the suspect description, so he went into the men' s bathroom, 

which had only one stall. RP 110. Although the stall was just like other

bathroom stalls and he could have seen, the officer did not bend over to

look to see if there were shoes or anything showing under the stall. RP

111 - 12. Instead, the officer just knocked on the stall door. RP 111. When

there was no response, the officer then announced, " police department" or

police officer," but there was still no response. RP 111 -12. 

Officer Donald Hobbs of the City of Milton police also responded

and went to the McDonald' s, joining Alexander in the bathroom. RP 163- 

70. When Hobbs arrived, Alexander told him there was someone in the

stall who was not coming out so Hobbs pulled himself up over the top of

the stall and looked down. RP 169. Inside the stall was a man sitting on

the toilet. RP 170. 

Hobbs admitted that he could not say whether the man had his

pants up or down. RP 170. 

Ultimately, Alexander went to speak to a McDonald' s manager and

found out the managers did not have keys to the bathroom stalls. RP 112. 

The manager, however, sent a male employee into the bathroom to have

him crawl under the stall door, in case " some kid had possibly locked the

stall and climbed under." RP 111 -12. When the employee started

crawling under the stall, he got about to his shoulders and then turned back

and told the officer there was someone inside the stall. RP 113. 

The officer had the employee back out and the officer then

knocked on the door and announced himself again. RP 113. There was

no initial response but on the second knock, a voice said something like, 
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j]ust a minute." RP 113. The officer estimated that it was about five

minutes before the man, later identified as Oscar Moreno Vargas, came out

of the stall. RP 114. According to Alexander, Moreno Vargas was

wearing an orange shirt that was inside out and backwards. RP 114. 

The officer placed Moreno Vargas in handcuffs and had him stand

next to the patrol car while Geffre and Casmier were brought by and

identified him as the man they thought they had seen. RP 114 -15. After

conducting some investigation at Albertson' s he finally took Moreno

Vargas to jail. RP 124 -25. The officer saw what he said was "[ f]resh spit" 

on the floorboard of his patrol car between Moreno Vargas' feet. RP 124- 

25. 

Oscar Moreno Vargas, whose first language was Spanish, testified

with the help of an interpreter and explained that he went into the

Albertson' s to use the bathroom because he had diarrhea. RP 187 -88. 

Once he entered the store, he asked someone where to find the bathroom

and she told him where to go, so he thanked her and went. RP 188 -89. 

There was no one else in the bathroom when he went inside and suffered a

little more from his diarrhea for a few minutes. RP 189. He was through

when he heard someone come in and start using the other stall. RP 189, 

214. 

Moreno Vargas suddenly wondered which bathroom he was in so

he looked through the little gap quickly to see who was next door. RP

189. 90. He saw a girl who was shifting her weight back and looked right

at him. RP 190. He got so scared he panicked and just ran out of there. 

RP 190. He thought his pants were all the way up at that point. RP 190. 
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Moreno Vargas admitted looking into the stall for a moment and

seeing a woman looking back. RP 214. He said she said something like, 

really ?" RP 214. 

Moreno Vargas was already standing at that time because he was

done. RP 214. Scared, he ran out of the store, feeling like he was being

chased but not looking back. RP 190 -91. Moreno Vargas said he did not

run to his car because he felt someone was running after him on foot. RP

219. He tripped, dropped his cell phone, then got back up and saw a

McDonald' s, so he went into the bathroom and stayed there. RP 191. 

Moreno Vargas sat on the toilet in McDonald' s for a few minutes, 

trying to calm down. RP 191. Moreno Vargas was really scared and felt

like he needed to go to the bathroom and urinate. RP 191. Someone came

and pushed on the door and then left. RP 191 -92. A moment later

someone looked underneath the stall, then knocked and told him to come

out. RP 192 -93. He came out and was arrested. 

Moreno Vargas freely admitted that he was in the women' s

bathroom but explained that he had made a mistake. RP 192 -93. He was

not familiar with the grocery store and went where he had been told by the

store worker when he asked where to find the restroom. RP 188 -89. 

Moreno Vargas admitted he understood enough English to know the words

bathroom," " restroom" and " men" and knew that urinals were in men' s

restrooms, not women' s, as well as what the bathroom symbols for men

and women usually look like. RP 205 -206. He did not, however, see the

sign outside the restroom or did not really notice it because he went in so

fast due to his condition. RP 208 -209. He explained that he went where
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the worker told him the bathroom was and did not check. RP 209. 

In fact, his diarrhea was so strong he had soiled himself in the

grocery store parking lot just before he went in to go to the bathroom. RP

192 -93, 213. Pictures of his underwear showing that he had soiled them

were admitted at trial. RP 193 -94, 212 -13. 

D. ARGUMENT

1. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE

ALL THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGED
CRIME

Under both the state and federal due process clauses, the state has

the burden of proving each element of the crime charged beyond a

reasonable doubt. See In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 

25 L. Ed. 2d 368 ( 1970); State v. Hanna, 123 Wn.2d 704, 710, 871 P.2d

135 ( 1994), reversed on other grounds on petition for writ of habeus

corpus sub nom Hanna v. Riveland, 87 F.3d 1034
9th

Circ. 1996); 14' 

Amend.; Art. 1, § 3. When the prosecution fails to meet that burden, 

reversal and dismissal with prejudice is required. See Jackson v. Virginia, 

443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 ( 1979). 

In this case, this Court should reverse the conviction for

voyeurism, because there was insufficient evidence to prove all the

essential elements of the crime, beyond a reasonable doubt. Evidence is

sufficient if, when taken in the light most favorable to the state, a rational

trier of fact could have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable

doubt. See Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319; State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221- 

22, 616 P.2d 628 ( 1980), reversed in part and on other grounds

Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d
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466 ( 2006). 

To prove voyeurism as charged in this case, the prosecution must

prove that a 1) defendant knowingly viewed a second person or their

intimate parts, 2) without the other person' s knowledge or consent, 3) for

the purposes of arousing or gratifying the sexual desire of any person and

either 4a) that the viewing occurred in a place where someone has a

reasonable expectation of privacy or 4b) that the intimate areas of the

second person where viewed under circumstances where she had a

reasonable expectation of privacy. RCW 9A.44. 115( 2). Further, the

viewing must be " for more than a brief period of time, in other than a

casual or cursory manner." See State v. Fleming, 137 Wn. App. 645, 154

P. 3d 304 ( 2007). 

Here, there was insufficient evidence to prove anything other than

a brief viewing. Fleming, supra, is instructive. In that case, the defendant

was seen in drinking and was so intoxicated that a bartender would not

serve him. 137 Wn. App. at 646. He was accused of voyeurism after he

went into a bathroom where a woman had gone into a stall already. The

woman saw shoes facing the toilet, then saw them disappear, then heard a

sound above her. 137 Wn. App. at 657. She looked up and saw the

defendant starting at him. 137 Wn. App. at 657. He then stuck out his

tongue at her, still staring. She yelled at him to leave her alone and pulled

up her pants. She then told him she had a cell phone and was going to call

police. He then climbed down and ran out and she did, too. In finding

that there was more than just a " brief" or " casual or cursory" viewing, the

court focused on all of the details of the encounter, noting that, while it did
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not last long, a reasonable jury could have found it was not so brief, casual

or cursory that it did not amount to voyeurism. 137 Wn. App. at 648 -49. 

Here, in contrast, the defendant was not standing on the toilet, 

looking over the top of the stall, down at someone going to the bathroom

in another stall, staying long enough to stare and then stick his tongue out

and only leaving when the woman in questions threatened to get out her

cell phone and make a call to police. Instead, the defendant was seen

peeking through a crack in a toilet stall for a half - second. That evidence

was insufficient to prove voyeurism, beyond a reasonable doubt, and this

Court should so hold and should reverse and dismiss the conviction. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO COMPLY

WITH STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS IN IMPOSING

LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

Under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), the sentencing court' s

authority to order a defendant in a criminal case to pay court costs is

wholly statutory. See, State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 918, 829 P.2d 166

1992); RCW 9. 94A.760. Where a court acts without statutory authority

in ordering a sentence, that issue may be raised for the first time on appeal. 

See State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 427, 477 -78, 973 P. 2d 452 ( 1999); State v. 

Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744, 193 P.3d 678 ( 2008). Here, the court acted

outside its statutory authority in ordering recoupment of discretionary

costs at sentencing. 

a. Relevant facts

At sentencing, the court noted that the prosecution was requesting, 

as part of the sentence, " the standard fines and costs." RP 288. The

prosecutor explained that this involved a $ 500 crime victim penalty
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assessment, $ 200 " court costs," $ 100 for "DNA" and "$ 2, 000 DAC

recoupment after trial," as well as potential future restitution. RP 289 -90. 

Because Moreno Vargas had already served more than the standard

range, the court released him with credit for time served, noting that there

was an " immigration hold." RP 289 -90. The court also ordered the

requested costs but only $ 1, 500 for the DAC recoupment. RP 289 -90. In

ordering the amounts paid, the court said, " all of these are probably moot." 

RP 290. 

At that point, counsel asked the court to reduce the recoupment to

1, 000 because counsel was the second attorney, "didn' t have it [the case] 

all that long" and the case did not take as much as " compared to a regular

trial." RP 290. The court stuck with its initial decision to " order $ 1, 500

rather than $2, 000." RP 290. The court said, "[ i] t was a trial." RP 290. 

The judge again declared, however, " as I said, it' s sort of academic." RP

290. Counsel then asked for an order authorizing an appeal at public

expense, saying, "[ h] e has no significant assets at all at this point," to

which the court responded, " I didn' t think he did." RP 290. 

b. The trial court failed to follow the statutory
requirements in ordering discretionary costs

The trial court failed to comply with the statutory requirements in

imposing discretionary legal financial obligations. Under RCW

10. 01. 160( 1), a trial court can order a defendant convicted of a felony to

repay court costs as a part of a judgment and sentence, but another

subsection of the same statute prohibits a court from entering such an

order without considering the defendant' s financial situation: 
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The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the
defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the
amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take

account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature
of the burden that payment of costs will impose. 

RCW 10. 01. 160( 3). 

Here, no such findings were actually made in relation to the

specific facts and circumstances of this case. In a pre - printed portion of

the judgment and sentence, the document provided: 

ABILITY TO PAY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS. The

court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant' s past, 
present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, 
including the defendant' s financial resources and the likelihood the
defendant' s status will change. The court finds that the defendant

has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial
obligations imposed herein. RCW 9. 94A.753. 

CP 68. Boilerplate language also imposed interest " from the date of the

judgment until payment in full." CP 70. 

There was no evidence, however, to support this declaration, 

apparently pre - printed on every judgment and sentence in the county. 

Such a " boilerplate" finding is not evidence that the trial court actually

gave independent thought and consideration to the facts of the particular

case. See, e. g., Dependency of K.N.J., 171 Wn.2d 568, 257 P.3d 522

2011). Indeed, there is not even a " box" next to the preprinted language

for the judge to " check off' if she makes the relevant finding in the

particular case - the " boilerplate" finding is presumptively entered in every

case, regardless of the evidence or circumstances involved. 

Thus, the " boilerplate" language did not amount to a proper finding

by the court sufficient to show compliance with the mandates of RCW

10. 01. 160( 3). See, e. g., State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404 n. 13, 
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267 P.3d 511 ( 2011), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1014 ( 2012). The

Supreme Court has held that there is no constitutional requirement that a

court enter formal, specific findings regarding ability to pay, but where, as

here, an unnecessary finding is made in "boilerplate" language, that

finding" is subject to this Court' s scrutiny. See Curry, 118 Wn.2d at 918; 

Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. at 404 n. 13. The trial court' s " boilerplate" 

finding," included by virtue of being in the judgment and sentence in

every case, was unsupported by the record and wholly improper. 

There was thus no true finding or consideration under RCW

10. 01. 160( 3) before imposition of the costs in this case. Notably, the trial

court was clearly aware that Mr. Moreno Vargas did not have the ability to

pay and likely would not, given the judge' s comments at sentencing. 

Importantly, there is a serious question about whether recoupment

of costs ordered paid under RCW 10. 73. 160 remains constitutional. It was

upheld in State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 237, 930 P.2d 1213 ( 1997), 

because of the fact that it was believed that the trial court must consider

ability to pay and because procedures for modification of the financial

obligation existed for those with the inability to pay. The failure to

include a pre- imposition consideration of ability to pay was upheld

because the defendant might later acquire the means to pay but could raise

an objection to enforcement later based on inability to pay and /or ask for

remission" of those costs later. 131 Wn.2d at 242 -43. And the Supreme

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