NO. 45568-4-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

OSCAR RAUL MORENO VARGAS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Katherine Stolz, Trial Judge

No. 13-1-02336-1

BRIEF FOR RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
JASON RUYF
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE STATE PROVIDED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT DEFENDANT OF VOYEURISM BECAUSE IT PROVED HE FLED FROM A WOMEN'S BATHROOM WITH HIS PANTS DOWN AFTER THE FEMALE VICTIM HEARD HIM MAKE SEXUAL NOISES IN THE NEIGHBORING STALL AND SAW HIM PEER INTO HER STALL WHILE SHE WAS USING THE FACILITIES.

For the court to find there was sufficient evidence on appeal it must determine that, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational jury could have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Further, an insufficiency claim admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences which can be drawn from it. *State v. Thereoff*, 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254, *aff'd*, 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980); *Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

The State bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt all the elements of the crime charged. *State v. Teal*, 152 Wn.2d 333, 337, 96 P.3d 974 (2004); *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 489, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983). Circumstantial and direct evidence are considered equally reliable. *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on appeal. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). Thus, the written record is an inadequate basis on which to decide issues based on witness credibility. When the State has produced evidence of all the elements of a crime, the decision of the trier of fact should be upheld.

Jury instruction number four defined the necessary elements the State must prove to convict the defendant:

A person commits the crime of voyeurism when, *for the purposes of arousing or gratifying the sexual desires* of any person, the person *knowingly views* a second person without the second person's knowledge or consent, and while the second person is being viewed, the second person is in a place where he or she would have a reasonable expectation of privacy or the intimate areas of a second person without the second person's knowledge and consent and under circumstances where the second person had a reasonable expectation of privacy, whether in a public or private place.

CP 46 (instruction no. 4) (emphasis added); *see also*, CP 52 (instruction no. 10)⁴; RCW 9A.44.115. Jury instruction number seven elaborated that to "view" means: "intentionally looking upon another person for more than a brief period of time, in other than a casual or cursory manner." CP 49 (instruction no. 7); RCW 9A.44.115(1)(e). Defendant admitted his actions were intentional. 2RP 199-200. The issue on appeal is whether defendant looked in a manner other than casual or cursory and for the purpose of sexual gratification.

- a. The evidence is sufficient to prove defendant "viewed" Geffre in more than a casual or cursory manner.

The evidence adduced at trial supports that defendant did not look at Geffre in a casual or cursory manner. Considering the layout of the restroom stalls, to peer through the gap in the partition would require a person to press his face against the rear wall of the restroom. This required effort implies that the glance was not merely casual, but rather an effort by defendant to view Geffre in the stall next to him. There was also adequate time for Geffre to see the defendant's eyes and question what he was doing before the defendant attempted to flee the scene. 1RP 56.

The court in *State v. Fleming* dealt with similar facts and concluded the evidence was sufficient. The court said the victim, "had

⁴ Jury instruction number ten further requires proof that the events occurred on or about June 9, 2013 and in the State of Washington. CP 52. Both of these elements were adequately proved and are not disputed on appeal. 1RP 46-48; 1 RP 100-02; 2RP 187.

enough time to see [the defendant] looking at her, to yell at him, to tell him she had a cell phone, and to run out of the stall. He in turn had enough time to stare and stick his tongue out at her." *State v. Fleming*, 137 Wn. App. 645, 648, 154 P.3d 304 (2007). Although the defendant in *Fleming* viewed his victim by peering over the stall partition, the distinction between that and peering through a gap in the partition is meaningless; the means by which a defendant obtains the necessary vantage to view another for sexual gratification is immaterial.

Additionally, evidence of a defendant fleeing is admissible if it creates "a reasonable and substantive inference that defendant's departure from the scene was an instinctive or impulsive reaction to a consciousness of guilt or was a deliberate effort to evade arrest and prosecution." *State v. McDaniel*, 155 Wn. App. 829, 853-54, 230 P.3d 245 (2010) (quoting *State v. Nichols*, 5 Wn. App. 657, 660, 491 P.2d 677 (1971)). This means that from evidence of a defendant fleeing, a jury may infer a consciousness of guilt. Defendant manifested his guilty conscience by running out of the Albertsons, continuing to run down the street, hiding in the McDonalds restroom, not responding when police knocked on the stall door, and turning his shirt inside out in a desperate attempt to alter his appearance. The jury could have inferred this to be evidence of defendant's guilt, because a person who truly made a mistake or glanced in a casual or cursory manner would be very unlikely to react as defendant did.

- b. The evidence is sufficient to prove defendant viewed Geffre for the purpose of his sexual gratification.

There was sufficient evidence adduced at trial to support that defendant's viewing of Geffre was for the purpose of sexual gratification. Geffre testified that she heard heavy breathing and a rubbing noise from the stall the defendant occupied. 1RP 56. The defendant made no explanation of these sounds in his testimony. Then, when the defendant fled the stall, his pants were down and Geffre saw his penis and bare butt. 1RP 58. Defendant admitted he had finished using the restroom when Geffre first entered--ten minutes prior to his exit--thus there was no explanation for his state of undress.

The court in *State v. Diaz-Flores* found that a jury's determination of purpose from circumstantial evidence was proper as the evidence showed the defendant's purpose was sexual gratification. The circumstantial evidence presented in that case was: "[The defendant's] hands were in his 'crotch area', and . . . that [the defendant's] zipper was down and it appeared that he had an erection." *State v. Diaz-Flores*, 148 Wn. App. 911, 919-20, 201 P.3d 1073 (2009). This is analogous to this case where defendant was heard heavily breathing and producing a rubbing noise and seen with his pants and underwear down. This is sufficient for the jury to find defendant acted with the purpose of sexual gratification. Evidence that defendant acted with a sexual purpose goes to further show that his glance was not merely casual or cursory.

Defendant attempts to relitigate a defense of mistake due to a bout of diarrhea he had on the day of the crime. However, this defense was already rejected by the jury when they convicted defendant of voyeurism, and the appellate court is not a venue to relitigate the merits of defendant's mistake defense. It was rational for the jury to reject this defense because it was unsupported by other testimony and only explained his presence in the women's bathroom and not him peering into Geffre's stall. First, Geffre testified that she heard no sounds of urinating or defecating from the defendant's stall. 1RP 56-57. Second, defendant's only explanation for not leaving once he finished was that he wanted to know which bathroom he was in before exiting. 2RP 214-15. However, the video surveillance showed defendant was in the bathroom with Geffre for ten minutes. 1RP 122. Surely, if defendant was truly worried about the other person in the bathroom seeing him, he could have left from his stall--the one closest to the door--without detection in a span of ten minutes.

The jury was able to assess defendant's credibility when he chose to testify. Jury instruction number one stated: "You are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness." CP 42. Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on appeal. *Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d at 71. Defendant's testimony contained statements which contradicted those made by other witnesses. For example, defendant stated he did not turn his shirt inside out, but the arresting officer testified that defendant's shirt was inside out when he handcuffed him. 2RP 209, 1RP 114.

Defendant also claimed the officer only knocked on the door and announced his presence once, whereas the officer testified that he knocked and announced himself twice. 2RP 222, 1RP 113. Defendant also failed to explain the heavy breathing and rubbing noises coming from his stall or his state of undress when he fled the restroom. These inconsistencies and omissions could have allowed the jury to reasonably find the defendant's excuses lacked credibility.

2. THE DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE TO THE IMPOSITION OF LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS SHOULD BE REJECTED BECAUSE IT IS NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW, WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL, AND FAILS ON ITS MERITS.

Trial courts may require a defendant to pay costs associated with bringing a case to trial pursuant to RCW 10.01.160. There are two limitations in the statute to protect defendants:

(3) The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, *the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.*

(4) A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs . . .

RCW 10.01.160 (emphasis added).

- a. The Court should decline to review the issue of legal financial obligations because the issue is not ripe for review.

Challenges to orders establishing legal financial obligations are not ripe for review until the State attempts to curtail a defendant's liberty by enforcing them. *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 108, 308 P.3d 755 (2013). *See also, State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 523-24, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009) ("the time to examine a defendant's ability to pay is when the government seeks to collect the obligation"). In the present case, there is nothing in the record showing that the State has attempted to enforce the LFOs. Therefore, the issue is not yet ripe for review.

- b. The Court should decline to review the issue of legal financial obligations because the issue was not properly preserved for appeal.

Failure to object precludes raising an issue on appeal. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). A defendant may only appeal a non-constitutional issue on the same grounds that he or she objected on below. *State v. Thetford*, 109 Wn.2d 392, 397, 745 P.2d 496 (1987); *State v. Hettich*, 70 Wn. App. 586, 592, 854 P.2d 1112 (1993). Defendant had an opportunity to object to the LFOs imposed and provide information of extraordinary circumstances that would make payment inappropriate in paragraph 2.5 of the Judgment and Sentence. CP 67. Defendant failed to object. Defendant also failed to object during the sentencing hearing held on November 8, 2013. 4RP 287-292. Counsel for

defendant did object to the imposition of \$1,500 for DAC, but the reason cited was that the attorney was the second assigned to the case, not defendant's alleged financial hardship.⁵ 4RP 290. Defendant failed to properly preserve the issue at the trial level because the only potential objection raised was not made on the same grounds which he asserts on appeal.

The appellate court may grant discretionary review for three issues raised for the first time on appeal: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a). *See also, State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993); *State v. Sisouvanh*, 175 Wn.2d 607, 618, 290 P.3d 942 (2012). To fall under the exceptions provided in RAP 2.5(a), the defendant would need to claim there was a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *See, State v. Lynn*, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). A constitutional error is manifest if the defendant can show actual prejudice. *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011). This means there must be a "plausible showing by the [appellant] that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." *Id.* (quoting *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)). Further, if the record lacks facts

⁵ Defense counsel's statement was: "I guess when it comes to DAC, Your Honor, I should let the Court know that I was his second attorney. I didn't have it all that long. He was a very easy client to work with even despite the language barriers; so as far as this one goes compared to a regular trial, it would be -- I'd recommend \$1,000 for that." 4RP 290.

necessary to adjudicate the claimed error, "no actual prejudice is shown and the error is not manifest." *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Only if a defendant proves an error that is both constitutional and manifest does the burden shift to the State to show harmless error. *Id.* Defendant has failed to provide evidence of prejudice required for a manifest constitutional error. Therefore, this court should not grant review for the LFO issue raised for the first time on appeal.

- c. Assuming the issue is ripe and was properly preserved, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in imposing the legal financial obligations.

If the court wishes to proceed despite the issue of ripeness and preservation, the LFOs should still be affirmed. The question of whether LFOs were properly imposed is controlled by the clearly erroneous standard. A decision by the trial court "is presumed to be correct and should be sustained absent an affirmative showing of error." *State v. Wade*, 138 Wn.2d 460, 464, 979 P.2d 850 (1999). The party presenting an issue for review has the burden of proof. RAP 9.2(b); *Sisouvanh*, 175 Wn.2d at 619. If the appellant fails to meet this burden, the trial decision stands. *State v. Tracy*, 128 Wn. App. 388, 294-95, 115 P.3d 381 (2005) *aff'd*, 158 Wn.2d 683, 147 P.3d 559 (2006). Therefore, the defendant has the burden of showing the trial court judge improperly exercised her discretion by showing an affirmative error.

Although formal findings of fact about a defendant's present or future ability to pay LFOs are not required, the record must be sufficient for the appellate court to review the trial court judge's decision under the clearly erroneous standard. *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404, 267 P.3d 511 (2011), *review denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1914, 287 P.3d 10 (2012). The court in *Bertrand* found that the trial court did not properly find the defendant had a present or future ability to pay because the record contained no evidence to support such a finding.⁶ *Id.* However, in this case, evidence was adduced in the Pre-Sentence Investigation, and "when the presentence report establishes a factual basis for the defendant's future ability to pay and the defendant does not object, the requirement of inquiry into the ability to pay is satisfied." *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 106, 308 P.3d 755 (2013).

The Pre-Sentence Investigation (PSI) established an adequate factual basis of defendant's future ability to pay for the trial judge to use in properly exercising her discretion. The judge acknowledged receipt of the

⁶ It should be noted that Division 2 declined to extend *Bertrand*, viewing it as factually distinct due to Bertrand's disability and the requirement that she begin payments within 60 days of sentencing. *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 911, 301 P.3d 492 (2013), *review granted*, 178 Wn.2d 1010, 311 P.3d 27 (2013).

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